THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

RECEIVED

Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge

JUL 07 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2016-000707

Kiawah Development Partners, II, Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control,
Appellant,

and

South Carolina Coastal Conservation League, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control
and Kiawah Development Partners, II, of whom South Carolina
Department of Health and Environmental Control is, Appellant, and
Kiawah Development Partners, II, is Respondent.

APPELLANT SOUTH-CAROLINA DEPARTMENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the ALC err in authorizing a structure beyond what was originally permitted by the Department in violation of the constraints established by the Supreme Court Opinion?
- II. Did the ALC err in failing to follow this Court's ruling regarding public benefit under S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-30(D)?
- III. Did the ALC err in concluding the additional 2,513 foot bulkhead beyond the 270 foot bulkhead and revetment did not adversely affect public access under S.C. Code Ann. Regs. §30-12(C)(1)(d)?
- IV. Did the ALC err in concluding there was no feasible alternative to the additional 2,513 foot bulkhead beyond the 270 foot bulkhead and revetment along Beachwalker Park per S.C. Code Ann. Regs. §30-12(C)(1)(d)?
- V. Did the ALC Order on Remand and Clarification and Reconsideration Order make additional findings that are legally erroneous and unsupported by any evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves an application by Kiawah Development Partners, II (“KDP”) to the Department of Health and Environmental Control (the “Department”) for a Critical Area Permit to construct a 2,783 foot bulkhead and 2,783 x 40 foot articulated concrete block revetment along the sandy shoreline of the Kiawah River at Captain Sam’s Spit on Kiawah Island. The Department’s Ocean and Coastal Resource Management (“OCRM”) issued a permit that authorized a 270 foot bulkhead and revetment immediately adjacent to the Beachwalker Park parking lot, where park facilities are being threatened by chronic erosion along that portion of the Kiawah River shoreline. The Department denied the remaining 2,513 foot bulkhead and 2,513 x 40 foot revetment.

KDP appealed the Department’s decision to deny the remaining 2,513 foot bulkhead and 2,513 x 40 foot revetment to the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”). The South Carolina Coastal Conservation League (“SCCCL”) also requested a contested case hearing at the ALC, appealing the Department’s decision to authorize 270 foot bulkhead/revetment adjacent to the Beachwalker Park parking lot. SCCCL supported the Department’s decision to deny the remaining 2,513 foot requested by KDP. The ALC consolidated the contested cases.

Following a five day hearing at the ALC the week of August 24, 2009, the ALC Judge Ralph King Anderson, III, issued a Final Order and Decision dated January 22, 2010 (“Order”), which deleted the condition imposed by the Department limiting the bulkhead/revetment to 270 feet. The ALC agreed that the entire 2,783 foot bulkhead and 2,783 foot by 40 foot revetment applied for by the KDP should not be granted. The ALC then authorized an erosion control structure which it designed. The ALC authorized the full structure for the first approximately 1000 feet; for the structure after survey point “F” on Exhibit 77, “a bulkhead shall not be used

where the vertical face of the escarpment is less than 24 inches” and “the ACB mat shall be no greater than eight feet in width.” SCCCL and the Department filed Motions to Reconsider or Alter and Amend. The ALC issued an Order On Motions For Reconsideration (“Motions Order”) and an Amended Final Order and Decision (“Amended Order”) on March 1, 2010.

The Department and SCCCL both filed a Notice of Appeal. Since then, this Court has issued three separate opinions, the most recent opinion filed December 10, 2014 (Kiawah Development Partners, II v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control, et al., 411 S.C. 16, 766 S.E.2d 707 (2014)).

In the December 10, 2014 opinion, this Court reversed and remanded the case back to the ALC based on the following errors of law: (1) the Coastal Zone Management Act (CZMA) requires that uses of the public tidelands be to “the maximum benefit to the people,” but the ALC did not consider whether and to what extent the public would benefit from leaving the tidelands in their natural state. Accordingly, the ALC erred in finding section S.C. Code Ann. §48–39–150 satisfied; (2) the ALC erred in finding the project met the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. Regulation §30–11 both because that regulation requires consideration of the factors in S.C. Code Ann. §48–39–150 and because the ALC’s consideration of upland impacts was flawed; and (3) the ALC erred in finding that S.C. Code Ann. Regulation §30–12(C) was satisfied because this finding was tainted by the erroneous conclusion that there was no adverse effect on public access and the failure to consider the alternative of leaving the critical area in its natural state.

On December 2, 2015, the ALC issued a Final Order and Decision on Remand. KDP, the Department and SCCCL all filed Motions to Reconsider or Alter and Amend. On March 22, 2016, the Court issued a Clarification and Reconsideration Order as well as an Amended Final

Order and Decision on Remand (“Remand Order”). On remand, the ALC affirmed the placement of a 270 foot bulkhead and revetment along the Kiawah River adjacent to the Beachwalker County Park parking lot. The ALC further ordered that a 2,513 foot bulkhead alone continue beyond the 270 foot bulkhead and revetment along the banks of the Kiawah River. The ALC found that this 2,513 foot structure (1) satisfied the maximum benefit to the people requirement of S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-30(D); (2) the 2,513 foot bulkhead without a revetment did not adversely affect public access per S.C. Code Ann. Regs. §30-12(C)(1)(d); and (3) no feasible alternative existed to installing the 2,513 foot bulkhead per S.C. Code Ann. Regs. §30-12(C)(1)(d).

The Department filed a Notice of Appeal of both the Remand Order and the Clarification and Reconsideration Order on April 21, 2016. SCCCL filed its Notice of Appeal of both Orders on March 30, 2016.

FACTS

KDP purchased Kiawah Island in 1988. Captain Sam’s Spit (the “Spit”) is on the southwestern tip of Kiawah Island adjacent to Beachwalker County Park (“Beachwalker Park” or “the Park”). At the time of purchase, the Spit was designated as “not suitable for development” and was zoned for use as park space and open area. The previous development agreement between the Town of Kiawah and KDP limited its use to park space and open area. Until 2005, KDP had no expectation of developing the Spit. (R. p. 708, line 24-p. 709, line 3). In 2005, KDP and the Town of Kiawah renegotiated the Development Agreement to authorize KDP to develop up to fifty home-sites on the Spit in exchange for KDP giving up rights to construct a 325 room hotel adjacent to the Spit. (R. pp. 763-764; R. pp. 766-768).

The Spit is surrounded on three sides by coastal tidal waters subject to the daily ebb and flood of the tide; the “front side” faces the Atlantic Ocean, the “backside” is bordered by the Kiawah River and the western side is separated from Seabrook Island by Captain Sam’s Inlet. As littoral property, the boundary of KDP’s upland property is the mean high water mark. The property boundary is not fixed, but meanders with gradual erosion or accretion of the adjacent tidal water bodies. On the front (ocean) side, the Spit has experienced years of steady accretion for well over a decade. On the back (river) side, the Spit has experienced years of gradual erosion as the Kiawah River migrates southwestwardly. The erosion on the backside is at a lower rate than the front side is accreting. As a result, KDP’ upland property has grown in size while shifting towards the Ocean.

Beachwalker Park is operated by Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission (“PRC”) on lands leased from KDP. The Park, which has public parking spaces and facilities for visitors, is the only public beach access on Kiawah Island. In recent years the southwestward migration of the Kiawah River has caused upland to slough off into the river, threatening the parking lot. As a result, PRC submitted a critical area permit application to the Department for a 270 foot long erosion control structure immediately adjacent to the park where erosion was most severe. The PRC request was held in abeyance at the joint request of PRC and KDP and subsequently withdrawn. (R. p. 1255, line 12-p. 1257, line 2).

KDP subsequently submitted a critical area permit application to the Department seeking to fix the location of the Kiawah River shoreline (KDP’s property boundary) for a length of 2,783’. The application proposed a 2,783’ vertical bulkhead and a 2,783’ x 40’ Articulated Concrete Block revetment, to be constructed of concrete blocks, laid on its side, holes-up, and linked together—referred to as a concrete block mattress. The proposed length of

the structure far exceeds (triples) the length of any other erosion control structure for which an application has been sought from the Department. (R. p. 677, lines 10-25). KDP's stated purpose for the bulkhead and revetment proposal is to facilitate and increase the marketability of potential homesites on the Spit. (R. p. 656, lines 11-19 and R. p. 659, lines 5-13). Currently, the Kiawah River shoreline is gently sloped, sandy, and readily used by the public. The adjacent spit is pristine and without human improvements. It is one of only three such spits in South Carolina. (R. p. 1292, line 16-p. 1293, line 16).

The Department permitted the 270 foot bulkhead and revetment adjacent to the Beachwalker Park parking lot and denied the remainder of the application. The Department relied primarily on S.C. Code Ann. Reg. §30-11(C)(1) and the policies in S.C. Code Ann. §48-39-20 and S.C. Code Ann. §48-39-30. The decision was based on the Department's determination that the proposed bulkhead and revetment would be contrary to the statutory requirement that the critical areas of the coastal zone be used in a manner that is most beneficial to the public and other grounds.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's review of the ALC's Order is governed by the Administrative Procedures Act, which provides that the Court may reverse the decision of the ALC if the ALC's Order is "(a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; (c) made upon unlawful procedure; (d) affected by other error of law; (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (f) arbitrary and capricious or characterized by an abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610; Bailey v.

South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control, 388 S.C. 1, 693 S.E.2d 426 (Ct. App. 2010).

ARGUMENT
Introduction

“Matters decided by the appellate court cannot be reheard, reconsidered, or relitigated in the trial court, even under the guise of a different form. The decision of the appellate court is final as to all questions decided. It is the duty of the trial court to follow the decision of the appellate court.” Ackerman v. McMillan, 324 S.C. 440, 477 S.E.2d 267, (Ct. App. 1996) (citing 5 C.J.S. Appeal and Error § 975(a) (1993)); (see also Bobo v. Marshane Corp., 302 S.C. 86, 88-89, 394 S.E.2d 2, 4 (Ct. App. 1990) (reversing the full workers compensation commission for exceeding its authority in failing to follow directions of the court on remand and going “much further” to reverse the panel’s decision and substitute a new decision with a different result)).

This Court determined that “the ALC erred in finding Section 48–39–30(D)’s public benefit requirement satisfied” and that “it was clear that only [KDP], not the *public*, would benefit from the construction of this enormous bulkhead and revetment.” Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 717 and Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 716. (Emphasis in original text). This is the law of the case and, as such, the Supreme Court’s holdings cannot be altered on remand.¹ Ables v. Gladden, 378 S.C. 558, 664 S.E.2d 442 (2008); Prince v. Beaufort Mem’l Hosp., 392 S.C. 599, 709 S.E.2d 122 (Ct. App. 2011); Ackerman v. McMillan, 324 S.C. 440, 477 S.E.2d 267 (Ct. App.

¹ In determining whether to grant a critical area permit, S.C. Code Ann. Regs. §30-11 requires DHEC to consider “[t]he extent to which long-range, cumulative effects of the project may result within the context of other possible development and the general character of the area.” In this case, there is nothing further for this Court to consider regarding S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 30-11, because this Court previously found that the bulkhead and revetment provided no public benefit. Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 723. Accordingly, additional long-range cumulative effects analysis is not required.

1996) (holding reversible error in reconsidering an issue addressed by the appellate court on remand). Specifically, the law of the case is that KDP, not the public, would benefit from the construction of the 2,513 foot bulkhead and revetment. The ALC erred as a matter of law in going beyond this Court's December 2014 opinion and substituting a different standard on the nature of public benefits.

When an appellate court has remanded a case for further proceedings consistent with its mandate, a district court is obliged to effectuate the mandate and *may consider only those matters essential to the implementation of the ruling of the appellate court.* 5 Am. Jur. 2d Appellate Review § 734 (2015) (citing State v. Dumars, 154 P.3d 1120 (Kan. Ct. App. 2007) (Emphasis added)). The central mandate of this Court was that "... simply because the State permits alterations in limited circumstances does not change the fact that altering tidelands remains the exception to the rule. The State, through the General Assembly, has adopted the policy that the public interest is usually best served by preserving tidelands in their natural state." Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 715. The ALC's March 22, 2016 Remand Order ignores this Court's ruling and mandate regarding public benefit. The Court remanded this matter back to the ALC "for further consideration consistent with this decision," but the ALC did not adhere to the Supreme Court's mandate. Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 723.

I. Supreme Court Opinion Constrains Authorization of Any Structure Beyond What Was Originally Permitted by DHEC

Authorization of any structure beyond what was originally permitted by the Department does not accord with this Court's mandate in Kiawah Development Partners, II vs. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control, et al., 411 S. C. 16, 766 S.E.2d 707 (2014). The Department's original permitting decision provides the maximum benefit to the people of South Carolina as mandated by this Court. Affirming the Department's original

decision will allow a 270 foot bulkhead and revetment along the banks of the Kiawah River adjacent to Beachwalker Park and leave the remainder of the banks of the Kiawah River in their natural and unaltered state without any hard erosion control structure. This position follows the constraints of the Supreme Court's Opinion and is based on the public benefit of (1) maintaining the parking lot at Beachwalker Park; (2) allowing the natural processes of erosion and accretion to occur on the remaining unpermitted portion of the Kiawah River; and (3) allowing the public to use and enjoy the shoreline for a variety of activities, including launching and landing boats, picnicking, watching dolphins strand feed, and just sitting on the sandy bank.

II. The ALC Erred Because it Did Not Follow This Court's Ruling Regarding Public Benefit

S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-30(D) states that "critical areas *shall* be used to provide the combination of uses which will insure [sic] the maximum benefit to the people, but not necessarily a combination of uses which will generate maximum measurable dollar benefits."² (Emphasis added). This Court held that compliance with the "maximum benefit to the people" requirement found in S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-30(D) is a threshold inquiry that *must* be satisfied before an activity in the critical area can be permitted.

This Court found that the ALC's January 22, 2010 Final Order and Decision misinterpreted the term "the people" in S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-30(D):

² When a statute such as this contains the term "shall", the action referenced in the statute is "mandatory". Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., 354 S.C. 100, 111, 580 S.E.2d 100, 105 (2003) (citing Montgomery v. Keziah, 277 S.C. 84, 282 S.E.2d 853 (1981)). See also 73 Am. Jur. 2d Statutes § 10 ("Generally, courts construe a statutory provision as mandatory when the power or duty to which it relates is for the public good. Accordingly, a statute affecting the public interest and promoting justice which prescribes the manner of performance is generally mandatory").

“because it failed to identify any benefit flowing to the public at large,³ instead stating only that ‘elimination of [the] erosion will further provide an economic benefit to [Kiawah].’ Kiawah is not synonymous with ‘the people.’ When that term is correctly construed, any benefit to Kiawah is irrelevant to whether section 48–39–30(D) is satisfied. ‘The people,’ as used here, is a term meaning the citizens of a particular jurisdiction.” (Emphasis added). Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 716.

This Court said “[t]o allow the benefits to a private developer to override the interests of the people of South Carolina undermines the statute and defeats the very purpose of the public trust doctrine. Thus, only those benefits which inure to the public as a whole may satisfy section 48-39-30(D).”⁴ Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 716. This Court further asserted that “it was clear that only the developer, not the *public*, would benefit from the construction of this enormous bulkhead and revetment.” Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 716. (Emphasis in original text). The Supreme Court stated that “the ALC erred as a matter of law in finding the proposed bulkhead and revetment comply with the requirements of the CZMA.” Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 715. The ALC had a duty to follow this Court’s public benefit rulings and mandate, because “[t]he decision of the appellate court is final as to all questions decided.” Ackerman v. McMillan, 324 S.C. 440, 443, 477 S.E.2d 267, 268 (Ct. App. 1996).

While this Court plainly rejected “an enormous bulkhead and revetment” (Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 716), the ALC ignored the Supreme Court’s analysis when it found an “enormous”

³ It is worth mentioning that the reason the ALC “failed to identify any benefit flowing to the public at large” is because (with the notable exception of the obvious public benefit in protecting the parking lot at Beachwalker Park), KDP presented no evidence of benefit to “the people” as that term is interpreted by this Court. Kiawah, 766 S.E.2d at 716.

⁴ The Supreme Court’s opinion above is consistent with the regulatory definition of “public interest”. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 30-1.D(44) defines “public interest” as follows: “As used within these Rules and Regulations, public interest refers to the beneficial and adverse impacts and effects of a project upon members of the general public, especially residents of South Carolina who are not the owners and/or developers of the project. To the extent that, in the opinion of the Department, the value of such public benefits is greater than the public costs embodied in adverse environmental, economic and fiscal effects, a proposed project may be credited with net public benefits.” (Emphasis added).

2,513 foot bulkhead satisfies the “maximum benefit to the people” mandate. The ALC found the following to be adequate public benefits: (A) protection of the Beachwalker Park parking lot; (B) KDP’s provision of eight (8) parking spaces⁵ and beach access to members of the Kiawah Island Community Association (“KICA”); and (C) KDP’s agreement, upon completion of its development, to permanently encumber the remainder of the Spit with a restrictive covenant mandating that it remain in its natural state and to grant a conservation easement to Kiawah Island Natural Habitat Conservancy (“KINHC”) over that same acreage. The eight (8) parking spaces, future restrictive covenants and future conservation easement do not satisfy the Court’s mandate regarding the nature of the public benefit that would allow alteration of the tidelands critical area.

A. Beachwalker Park parking lot

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