STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUL 03 2017

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT S.C. SUPREME COURT  
Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000707

Kiawah Development Partners, II, ..... Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ..... Appellant,

and

South Carolina Coastal Conservation League ..... Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, and Kiawah Development Partners, II, of whom South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control is Appellant, and Kiawah Development Partners, II, is Respondent.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

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

### Argument

#### Standard of Review

"In an appeal from an ALC decision, the Administrative Procedures Act provides the appropriate standard of review." 2014 Opinion, 766 S.E.2d 715. Section 1-23-610 S.C. Code Ann. provides, in pertinent part:

(B) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. **The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.** The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further

---

<sup>4</sup> The 2005 Development Agreement with the Town specifies that KDP may develop up to 50 lots on 20 acres of the 118.3 acres of highland of the Spit (identified as Parcel 12B) provided KDP abides by certain conditions associated with that development, including encumbering all the remaining acreage of the Spit that is not part of this limited development. R. pp. 1808-1810, KDP Exh. 2. Under section 10(b) of the 2005 Development Agreement, "all rights and prerogatives accorded the Property Owner [KDP] by this Agreement shall immediately constitute vested rights for the Development of the Real Property." R. p. 1791, KDP Exh. 2.

proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

(a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;

...

(d) affected by other error of law;

...

(e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; ...

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)(emphasis added).

Although a contested case reaches the ALC in the posture of an appeal, the ALC does not sit in an appellate capacity; the ALC hears the matter de novo upon the evidence presented. Brown v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Env'tl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 512, 560 S.E.2d 410, 413 (2002). The ALC presides as the fact-finder in the de novo hearing. Hill v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Env'tl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 9, 698 S.E.2d 612, 616 (2010).

This Court's review is limited to determining whether the findings were supported by substantial evidence or were controlled by an error of law. Id. at 9, 698 S.E.2d at 617. "In determining whether the ALJ's decision was supported by substantial evidence, this Court need only find, looking at the entire record on appeal, evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the ALJ reached." Id. at 9-10, 698 S.E.2d at 617. Substantial evidence includes the reasonable inferences from the evidence. Radcliffe v. S. Aviation Sch., 209 S.C. 411, 40 S.E.2d 626, 629 (1946).

This de novo review is "one in which the [ALJ] does not review the decision of [the department], but makes the determination himself"—the ALC "*decides the issue without regard to the decisions made by the agency.*" South Carolina Administrative Practice and Procedure 152 (Randolph R. Lowell ed. 2008) (double emphasis added); see also generally, Blizzard v. Miller, 306 S.C. 373, 375, 412 S.E.2d 406, 407 (1991) (de novo trial is where the whole case is tried "as if no trial whatsoever had been had in the first instance."); State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 552,

732 S.E.2d 861, 864 (2012) (explaining that questions decided under de novo review may be decided without any deference to the court below); Lexington Cnty. Sch. Dist. One Bd. of Trs. v. Bost, 282 S.C. 32, 34, 316 S.E.2d 677, 678 (1984) (explaining that de novo review of an agency decision record may be entered into evidence but accorded no deference).

**1. The Administrative Law Court did not commit legal error on remand by reconsidering the evidence in the record and conducting an analysis of public benefit in accordance with the ruling of the majority in the 2014 Opinion.**

Appellants assert Judge Anderson should not have reviewed the record to determine the benefits, if any, to the public even though this Court remanded the matter to him for further consideration. Both the League and DHEC argue that this Court remanded the case to Judge Anderson solely for him to accomplish the ministerial task of entering a ruling in favor of the Appellants on all determinations under S.C. Code Ann. 48-39-30(D) and S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 30-11(C) and 30-12(C). League Initial Brief, pp. 11, 26; DHEC Initial Brief, pp. 7-10.

It is worth noting that DHEC's position that this Court instructed Judge Anderson to make a finding that there is no proof of public benefit in the record is directly contradicted by DHEC's other assertion that a permit should be issued to protect the parking lot at Beachwalker Park. "DHEC concurs with the ALC's public benefit analysis on remand regarding the parking lot at Beachwalker Park when limited to the 270 foot structure permitted by DHEC." DHEC Initial Brief, p. 10. DHEC asserts the ALC should have approved this segment of the erosion control structure (DHEC Initial Brief at 8-9), yet the ALC would not be able to do so without consideration of the record and making findings according to the legal precepts of this Court in the 2014 Opinion. This Court did not mention, much less made an exception for, the public benefit associated with the protection of the Beachwalker Park parking area.

When a case is remanded, the trial court has only the jurisdiction and authority mandated by this Court. Prince v. Beaufort Meml. Hosp., 392 S.C. 599, 605, 709 S.E.2d 122, 125 (Ct. App. 2011). Here, this Court remanded to the ALC “for further consideration consistent with this decision.” 766 S.E. 2d 707 at 723. “The use of the word ‘consideration’ reveals that we intended the Commission merely **to review the evidence which was admitted in the record of the hearing** in 1980, not hold a new hearing for the admission of additional evidence.” Parker v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Commn., 288 S.C. 304, 307, 342 S.E.2d 403, 405 (S.C. 1986) (emphasis added). In this case, Judge Anderson merely conducted a review of the evidence admitted in the record of the 2009 hearing as he was supposed to do.

If this Court had intended to tie Judge Anderson’s hands so that he could rule only that there is no proof of public benefit in the record to satisfy the policy set forth in 48-39-30(D), this Court would have reversed and vacated the conditional permit in its entirety based on its public benefit analysis, would not have addressed the legal errors under 30-12(C)(1) and 30-12(C)(1)(c) and (d), and would not have remanded the case for further consideration. In remanding for further consideration, this Court was requiring the ALC to review the record and make findings consistent with the legal rulings in the 2014 Opinion. As stated by Judge Anderson:

Had the Court concluded that no public benefit flowed to the public at large based on the entire record, the Supreme Court would presumably not have remanded the case to this Court but would instead have vacated the permit. But the Supreme Court remanded the case to this Court to make further findings of fact, as this Court is the sole finder of the fact.

R. pp. 163-164, Order on Remand Denying Motions to Reconsider.

Further, as pointed out by Judge Anderson, “[a]s the Supreme Court noted in its conclusion, ‘the ALC did not consider whether and to what extent the public would benefit from the proposed structure as opposed to leaving the tideland in its natural state.’” R. p. 178, Final Order on Remand,

referring to 766 S.E.2d at 723. It necessarily follows that when this Court remanded the matter to Judge Anderson, this Court intended the ALC to consider the entire record to determine whether and to what extent the public would benefit from the proposed structure as opposed to leaving the tideland in its natural state.

Judge Anderson did not commit legal error or exceed the instruction of this Court “for further consideration consistent with this decision,” by reviewing the entire record and making findings and conclusions that applied the legal rulings of this Court that were the basis for reversal and remand.

- 2. Under S.C. Code Ann. Sections 48-39-20 and 48-39-30 the determination of public benefit from an activity in the critical area is not limited to consideration of the benefit occurring in the critical area itself and encompasses consideration of benefit outside the critical area facilitated by or resulting from the activity in the critical area.**

The League asserts that the factual determination of the benefits from a proposed activity in the critical area under S.C. Code Ann. §48-39-30(D) looks only at benefits that occur in the critical area and that the ALC committed legal error in considering benefits occurring outside the critical area. The League cites no legal precedent at all in support of its argument.

The legislative policy set forth in S.C. Code Ann. 48-39-30 (D) states: “(D) Critical areas shall be used to provide the combination of uses which will insure the maximum benefit to the people, but not necessarily a combination of uses which will generate measurable maximum dollar benefits. As such, the use of a critical area for one or a combination of like uses to the exclusion of some or all other uses shall be consistent with the purposes of this chapter.” As is evident from the text, the statute contains no semblance of the restricted view argued by the League that the only benefit to be considered is benefit occurring in the critical area.

S.C. Code Ann 48-39-20 and 48-39-30 refer to the “coastal zone” no fewer than nine times in expressing the legislative findings and purposes of the CZMA. “ ‘Coastal zone’ means all coastal

waters and submerged lands seaward to the State's jurisdictional limits and **all lands** and waters in the counties of the State which contain any one or more of the critical areas. These counties are Beaufort, Berkeley, Charleston, Colleton, Dorchester, Horry, Jasper and Georgetown.” S.C. Code Ann. 48-39-10(B) (emphasis added). A primary purpose of the CZMA is to manage “[t]he increasing and competing demands upon the **lands** and waters of our coastal zone ....” S.C. Code Ann. 48-39-20(B) (emphasis added).

One of the several policies of the CZMA is to “promote economic and social improvement of the citizens of this State....” S.C. Code Ann. 48-39-30(B)(1). It is impossible to conceive how this benefit could ever occur within the critical area itself under the interpretation argued by the League. Economic benefit does not occur in the critical area, rather it may flow from permitted activity in the critical area. Under the League’s interpretation of the statutory policy, the benefit of protecting and preserving the parking lot at Beachwalker Park that provides oceanfront beach access to 50,000 members of the public each year would have to be disregarded.

If the League’s argument were correct, there could be no private use structures in the critical area - including private docks, bridges, and boat landings - since they do not benefit the public’s use of the critical area. Under the League’s argument, **an erosion control structure could never be permitted. Never.** The purpose of an erosion control structure, even structures as simple and widespread as bulkheads or the placement of riprap, is to protect the highland of a property owner, not the critical area. None bestows benefit on the public’s use of the critical area. The League’s interpretation of subsection (D) would effectively repeal S.C. Code § 48-39-120(F)<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> “DHEC, for and on behalf of the State, may issue permits not otherwise provided by state law, for erosion and water drainage structure in or upon the tidelands, submerged lands and waters of this State below the mean high-water mark as it may deem most advantageous to the State **for the purpose of** promoting the public health, safety and welfare, **the protection of public and private**

and S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 30-12(C) that both allow erosion control structures to protect highland being lost to erosion even though those structures do nothing to promote the public's use of the critical area.

As noted by Judge Anderson, the League's argument is also entirely counter to this Court's ruling in the 2014 Opinion that the cumulative impacts analysis under S.C. Code of Regs. 30-11(C)(1) requires consideration of any impacts outside the critical area from a proposed project in the critical area:

[T]he Supreme Court held that this Court should have deferred to DHEC's interpretation of Reg. 30-11(C)(1) that it must "consider not only a proposed project's impact on the critical area, but also the project's impacts on upland areas within the larger coastal zone." *Kiawah*, 411 S.C. at 32, 766 S.E.2d at 717. Coastal asserts that the Court "Confus[ed] the requirement that critical areas be used to provide maximum benefits with the requirement to consider the long-range and cumulative impacts of a project, including those impacts outside the critical area." However, it would defy logic to require this Court to consider cumulative impacts both outside and inside the critical area, but only consider benefits within the critical area. Additionally, the Supreme Court never required this Court to limit its consideration of public benefits to only those occurring within the critical area and to only existing activities. Indeed, such a requirement would lead to absurd results, such as dock permits (or any other private-use structure) always being rejected since docks do not benefit the public's use in the critical areas in which they are installed. Rather, benefits to the public can occur either within the critical area or can flow outside the critical area from a project within the critical area.

Furthermore, the Supreme Court stated in footnote 5 of the Opinion, that the developer is considered part of the 'the people' in determining public benefit. But a developer would scarcely, if ever, derive a direct benefit from use within the critical area. Therefore, under Coastal's theory, the Court would hardly, if ever, consider the benefits to the developer as a member of the public. However, in this Court's view, the Supreme Court did not intend to exclude the developer's benefits but rather opposed focusing 'only [on] benefits to the developer . . . .'

R. pp. 160-161, Order on Remand Denying Motions to Reconsider.

---

**property from beach and shore destruction** and the continued use of tidelands, submerged lands and waters for public purposes." S.C. Code § 48-39-120(F)(emphasis added).

This Court should reject the League's novel and unsupported interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. 48-39-30(D) that the only benefits that may be taken into account are those that might occur in the critical area.

**3. The Administrative Law Court's findings of fact and conclusions of law of public benefit are supported by substantial evidence and the applicable law.**

Following the direction of this Court, Judge Anderson considered the benefit from leaving the shoreline unprotected as well as the benefits from approving a permit that would allow the construction of an erosion control structure. Guided by this Court's ruling, Judge Anderson noted that while this Court recognized in footnote no. 5 to the 2014 Opinion that KDP is a member of the public, S.C. Code Ann. 48-39-30(D) requires benefit to the public at large. "The Supreme Court ruled that in this context, where there is an impairment of the public's access to and use of those tidelands, the benefit to be considered is the benefit to the public at large, not just the economic benefit to the proponent of the project in the critical area." R. p. 196, Final Order on Remand.

Judge Anderson identified five elements of benefit to the public if the riverbank was stabilized by an erosion control structure: (1) protection of Beachwalker Park's facilities from further erosion; (2) creation of eight new parking spaces with dedicated beach access on the Spit west of Beachwalker Park for use by the all members of the island-wide Kiawah Island Community Association ("KICA"); (3) the permanent legal restriction of all of the Spit other than the 20 acres that is available for the limited residential development requiring it to remain forever in a natural state; (4) the economic benefit to KDP; and (5) the realization of the local municipal government's approved zoning plan for the Spit.

The League challenges each of these findings of benefit from stopping the erosion of the riverbank; DHEC challenges all but the protection of Beachwalker Park. As described below, each

of the findings involves the type of benefit that may be considered under 48-39-30(D), and each is supported by evidence in the record. KDP will address them one by one.

**a. Public benefit from letting the natural process of erosion proceed unchecked.**

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